ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTOINE LAKIDA HIGHTOWER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000822

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court's denial of defense counsel's motion for an evaluation by the Department of Mental Health was error where Appellant suffered from paranoid schizophrenia which was untreated at the time of the offense, since the denial deprived Appellant of the opportunity to determine the possible existence of an insanity defense?

2.

Whether the court's denial of defense counsel's motion for an evaluation by the Department of Mental Health was error where § 44-23-410 mandates the court order an evaluation if it has reason to believe an accused is not fit to stand trial, where the court improperly denied the motion based solely on two brief interactions with Appellant, since Appellant's history of mental illness spanned twenty-five years and was of such severity that it at times precluded him from working?

3.

Whether the court erred where it admitted prior consistent statements given by the alleged victims, Tymel McCullough and Maurice Taylor, in response to questioning by Officer Brown the night of the incident, since McCullough and Taylor testified at trial, which rendered the statements bolstering hearsay?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 7, 2017, a York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for the offenses of first degree burglary, kidnapping, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 261 – 266. Appellant was represented by Devon Nielson and Mark McKinnon. R. 27. The State was represented by Chris Epting and Dan Porter. R. 27.

Motions were heard before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall in the weeks leading up to trial. R. 1; R. 13. Appellant was tried before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury from April 23 – 25, 2018. R. 27; R. 187. Appellant was found guilty as indicted and the court sentenced him to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty-five years for first degree burglary, twenty-five years for kidnapping, twenty years for ABHAN, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 267 – 270.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The ordering of a competency evaluation is within the discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Colden*, 372 S.C. 428, 641 S.E.2d 912 (2007) (citing *State v. Drayton*, 270 S.C. 582, 584, 243 S.E.2d 458, 459 (1978); *State v. Singleton*, 322 S.C. 480, 483, 472 S.E.2d 640, 642 (Ct. App. 1996). “The refusal to grant such an examination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion.” *Id.*

In *Monahan v. State*, 365 S.C. 130, 132-34, 616 S.E.2d 422, 423-24 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion where the trial court ordered that the defendant undergo a second criminal responsibility evaluation at the behest of the State. “The trial judge has the discretion to order a mental health evaluation where the defendant indicates an intent to introduce evidence at trial that he lacked criminal responsibility.” *Id.* at 133, 616 S.E.2d at 424.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 120, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. *State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Schizophrenia

On March 27, 2018, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall for a motion to relieve his counsel, Devon Nielson. R. 1; R. 5, ll. 1-8. The court questioned Appellant about his background.

THE COURT: Have you ever been treated for any mental or emotional disability?

MR. HIGHTOWER: Yes, sir, I am.

THE COURT: Tell me about that.

MR. HIGHTOWER: I had kind of diagnosed back in 2000 with paranoid schizophrenia.

THE COURT: All right. Are you on any kind of medication today?

MR. HIGHTOWER: Yes, sir, I am.

THE COURT: What type of medication?

MR. HIGHTOWER: Seroquel.

R. 6, ll. 4-16.

The court asked Appellant if he understood his discussions with counsel about the consequences he would face if he accepted a plea bargain offered by the State, and Appellant said that he did not. R. 9, ll. 1-7.

THE COURT: It's a mandatory fifteen-year sentence. So really what you're looking at through their offer, and I'm sure Mr. Nielson has explained this to you, is that you're looking at somewhere between fifteen and twenty years, if you accepted the offer. Did you understand that?

MR. HIGHTOWER: I didn't understand that part. But he was—I believe was trying to make me just take the fifteen and it's my first time being in trouble down here.

R. 9, ll. 1-9. The court denied the motion.

On April 4, 2018, the parties appeared before the court again and Appellant's counsel moved the court to order a psychiatric evaluation of Appellant. R. 13; R. 15, ll. 19-23. Counsel said that when Appellant came before the court the previous week and told the court that "he had suffered throughout his lifetime from schizophrenic episodes . . ." that was the first time counsel had heard of Appellant's "mental disorders." R. 16, l. 21 – 17, l. 1. Counsel moved that the court allow Appellant "to be evaluated by the Department of Mental Health before we proceed— proceed to trial." R. 18, ll. 7-10.

Counsel said an evaluation was necessary to determine whether Appellant "was going through a schizophrenic episode . . ." at the time of the offense, and to "prepare his defense in the best way we possibly can for this case." R. 17, ll. 11-18; R. 18, ll. 1-3.

The court questioned Appellant and learned that he had been receiving mental health treatment since age fifteen¹ and received supplemental security income for his mental illness. R. 17, ll. 11-14; R. 18, ll. 23-24; R. 19, ll. 19-24. The court heard that Appellant was being administered the medication Seroquel at the detention center. R. 19, ll. 7-18. According to Appellant, he had not seen a doctor for his mental illness since 2016. R. 19, ll. 2-6. Appellant informed the court that prior to his arrest, he was "working at Ruby Tuesday, but they had stopped working me because of my mental situation." R. 20, ll. 9-12.

The solicitor objected to Appellant receiving an evaluation, and argued the motion was merely a "delay tactic" by Appellant. R. 16, ll. 8-13; R. 25, ll. 2-5.

The court denied the motion and said, "There doesn't appear to be any basis by which the Court believes his ability to understand the difference between right and wrong at the time of the occurrence was affected by his mental state." R. 21, ll. 9-12. "I find he certainly has obtained a

¹ Appellant was forty years old at the time of his trial. R. 18, ll. 14-16.

GED. He appears to be properly medicated. He understands what's going on in court here today." R. 21, ll. 5-8. "He's very—is articulate, and so I find no basis by which this Court will order a mental evaluation." R. 21, l. 24 – 22, l. 1.

Counsel took exception to the ruling, "[A]t the time of the occurrence, you did not ask him any questions about that, and he was not on his med—medications at the time of the occurrence." R. 22, ll. 7-10.

However, the court said the fact that Appellant "was not on his medication at the time of the occurrence . . . there doesn't seem to be any basis by which that—that in and of itself would merit an evaluation as far as his ability to know the difference between right and wrong, criminal responsibility at the time." R. 22, ll. 15-21. The court continued, "I will note that court judges have just been very recently cautioned on being—on signing an [order] for mental evaluations . . . not to rush to sign mental evaluations, and I find him to be—there's no need for that in this case." R. 22, l. 22 – 23, l. 4.

The parties proceeded to trial from April 23 – 25, 2018, before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. R. 27; R. 187. During pretrial motions, defense counsel renewed his motion for an evaluation. R. 68, ll. 2-10. Counsel told the trial judge the parties "went before Judge Hall about three weeks [ago] after it came to our attention that my client suffers from schizophrenia throughout his lifetime and made a motion for a mental health evaluation by the Department of Mental Health. That was turned down." R. 68, ll. 2-9.

The trial court asked, "Well, do you have anything that's different from when Judge Hall ruled?" and counsel replied, "We do not." R. 68, ll. 11-13. The court ruled, "Well, then, I find Judge Hall's ruling is the law of the case and there being no reason for the Court to revisit it since there's nothing additional or new or supplemental being offered." R. 68, ll. 14-17. After the

State rested its case, defense counsel renewed his motion for a mental health evaluation. R. 197, ll. 8-10.

Incident at the hotel

On the night of August 23, 2017, Tymel McCullough (McCullough) and his friend Maurice Taylor (Taylor) were sharing a hotel room at the Hillside Inn with two female guests. R. 110, l. 7 – 111, l. 8. According to McCullough, he had a passing acquaintance with Appellant because Appellant had worked with McCullough's father at Ruby Tuesday. R. 52, l. 23 – 53, l. 4.

McCullough was incarcerated at the time of the trial but was brought up from the holding cell to testify. R. 47, ll. 2-3.

McCullough claimed that Appellant approached him in the hotel parking lot and asked him for a light. R. 140, ll. 9-12. McCullough said he told Appellant that he did not have a lighter on him and went back in his hotel room where he told Taylor, “[Y]o this guy out here is looking real strange.” R. 140, ll. 14-24. According to McCullough, he did not leave the room to give Appellant a light, “Because I didn’t trust the way he was acting. It didn’t set well with me.” R. 141, ll. 11-13. “[H]is whole demeanor was strange from the start.” R. 139, ll. 4-5.

McCullough claimed Appellant knocked on the door several times and the men told him they could not have any more company in the hotel room. R. 141, ll. 15-23. The men heard a “big bang at the door” and “after a couple of kicks or shoves” the door opened. R. 142, ll. 8-13. McCullough said he saw Appellant with a handgun and thought, “Oh, shit.” R. 143, ll. 2-7. It turned out to be a BB gun. R. 178, ll. 3-7.

According to McCullough, Appellant said, “Where is the guy with the gold,” and McCullough ran out of the room with Appellant chasing him. R. 143, l. 12 – 144, l. 11. McCullough said Appellant “grabbed me, picked me up, carried me a little short distance and

slammed me to the ground and started beating me with a pistol.” R. 144, ll. 12-16. Appellant was not speaking. R. 144, ll. 20-22. According to McCullough, he picked up a brick and hit Appellant with it and ran back to the room, but Appellant followed him in and hit McCullough with the brick until McCullough was “knocked out.” R. 144, l. 24 – 146, l. 20. McCullough needed stitches in his head and his back and neck were injured. R. 158, l. 23 – 159, l. 12.

Taylor corroborated McCullough’s version of events. Taylor described an unprovoked, bizarre, and chaotic event with Appellant kicking the door in, the females in the room screaming, Taylor attempting to arm himself with a closet rod, and Appellant beating McCullough and ripping his underpants off. R. 113, ll. 20-21; R. 115, ll. 4-5; R. 117, ll. 7-9.

Neither the men nor the State were able to ascribe a motive to the attack. R. 165, ll. 12-19; R. 129, ll. 23-25. Taylor said he was acquainted with Appellant and they were on good terms, “I’ve even sat and had dinner with [Appellant] at his house.” R. 122, ll. 20-23.

In addition to the testimony of Taylor and McCullough, the State introduced video surveillance footage² from the hotel that depicted: Appellant kicking the hotel room door open; Appellant running after McCullough outside the hotel; Appellant holding a what appeared to be a gun and a brick at times; and a physical altercation in the parking lot. State’s Exhibit #1. The State introduced the bloody brick and pieces of a broken BB gun found at the scene, and it introduced photographs of McCullough’s injuries taken by police officers. R. 178, l. 3 – 180, l. 8; R. 104, ll. 5-24.

However, the solicitor was not content with this evidence and sought to introduce State’s Exhibit #3, a video and audio recording captured on Officer Brown’s body camera.³ On the

² The hotel surveillance footage comprised State’s Exhibit #1 and is on file with this Court.

³ The officer’s bodycam recording comprised State’s Exhibit #3 and is on file with this Court.

recording, McCullough and Taylor give detailed statements about the incident in response to questions by Officer Brown. State's Exhibit #3. The two men describe what happened and describe the assailant. State's Exhibit #3. The recording was seven and a half minutes long.

The solicitor redacted the officer's statements (and Officer Brown could not be present at the trial) but left the statements by McCullough and Taylor on the recording. State's Exhibit #3; R. 62, l. 19 – 63, l. 4. Defense counsel moved pretrial to exclude the body camera recording, and argued the recording was hearsay and cumulative. R. 62, ll. 7-9; R. 63, ll. 18-24; R. 64, ll. 10-16. Defense counsel noted the "two witnesses are both available. They can both testify." R. 64, ll. 10-12.

The solicitor argued the bodycam recording was admissible because it showed the hotel room, and showed McCullough's "state of mind" and his injuries. R. 62, ll. 15-18. According to the solicitor, because McCullough and Taylor were going to testify at trial, their recorded statements were not hearsay. R. 63, ll. 8-16.

Defense counsel responded, "They can say how they were feeling that day. They can say how they were hurt. There were pictures that were taken that can be shown to the jury. This is cumulative, it's—it's nothing but cumulative. It's nothing but bolstering." R. 64, ll. 10-16. Defense counsel offered that he had "no problem" with the State showing the demeanor of McCullough on the video if it would "mute" the audio. R. 150, ll. 18-19. However, the solicitor rejected the compromise.

The court ruled Taylor and McCullough's recorded statements the night of the incident were not hearsay because they were available to testify at trial: "[T]hat's not hearsay—technically, it's kind of hearsay, but it's not hearsay because the declarant is subject to cross-examination." R. 65, l. 24 – 67, l. 1.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court's denial of defense counsel's motion for an evaluation by the Department of Mental Health was error where the court heard that Appellant suffered from paranoid schizophrenia which was untreated at the time of the offense, since the denial deprived Appellant of the opportunity to determine the possible existence of an insanity defense.

The court's ruling denying Appellant an opportunity to be evaluated by the Department of Mental Health for criminal responsibility was arbitrary, since the court knew Appellant had paranoid schizophrenia, which was untreated the night of the offense, and it deprived Appellant of the opportunity to determine if he had an insanity defense.

As discussed above, the court knew that Appellant had a history of mental illness spanning twenty-five years and had been diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia, which was being treated with the medication Seroquel. R. 18, ll. 19-24; R. 6, ll. 4-16. The court knew that Appellant had not been medicated at the time of the offense. R. 22, ll. 9-17. Counsel correctly asked that Appellant be evaluated by the Department of Mental Health to determine whether he had been "going through a schizophrenic episode" at the time of the offense. R. 17, ll. 11-18. The court erred when it found there was no basis to believe Appellant's "ability to understand the difference between right and wrong at the time of the occurrence was affected by his mental state." R. 21, ll. 9-12.

The United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right "to present a complete defense." *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986); U.S. CONST. amend. VI. This right is also guaranteed by the South Carolina Constitution. S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. "Insanity is

an affirmative defense to a prosecution for a crime.” *State v. Lewis*, 328 S.C. 273, 277, 494 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1997); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-24-10.

“An accused who lacks the capacity to distinguish moral or legal right from moral or legal wrong at the time of the crime is relieved of responsibility for his acts.” *Davenport v. State*, 301 S.C. 39, 40, 389 S.E.2d 649, 649 (1990). “The test for criminal responsibility relates to the time of the alleged offense, while competency to stand trial relates to the time the defendant is before the court for trial.” *Monahan v. State*, 365 S.C. 130, 133, 616 S.E.2d 422, 423 (2005).

“[W]hen it appears to counsel that the accused is mentally ill and that he cannot afford to consult a psychiatrist, it is counsel’s duty to inform the court of this situation and move for a psychiatric examination. Such requests are not lightly turned aside.” *Proffitt v. United States*, 582 F.2d 854, 859 (4th Cir. 1978) (citations omitted). “[W]hen a defendant demonstrates to the trial judge that his sanity at the time of the offense is to be a significant factor at trial, the State must, at a minimum, assure the defendant access to a competent psychiatrist who will conduct an appropriate examination and assist in evaluation, preparation, and presentation of the defense.” *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 83 (1985).

The Fourth Circuit has addressed whether a trial court’s denial of a defendant’s pretrial motion for a psychiatric evaluation to determine criminal responsibility deprived him of “an adequate opportunity to determine the possible existence of a substantial defense of insanity,” and found that it did. *United States v. Taylor*, 437 F.2d 371, 373 (4th Cir. 1971).

Taylor was charged with attacking another man with a metal mop wringer, an attack that was “apparently without rational motive,” and he had an “extensive history of mental disturbance” including psychosis and paranoia. *Id.* at 373-74. However, the trial court denied his

counsel's motion for an evaluation to determine competency to stand trial and to determine criminal responsibility. *Id.* at 375. As a result, no insanity defense could be offered at trial. *Id.*

The Fourth Circuit found no error in the trial court's determination that Taylor was competent to stand trial—it was not alleged that he experienced difficulty communicating with his attorney or did not understand the proceedings. *Id.* at 376. However, the Court explained that unlike competency to stand trial, “[a] claim that the defendant is not criminally responsible . . . is unconcerned with the defendant's understanding of the situation at the time of trial, but is directed entirely to his capacity to understand and to control his conduct at the time of the commission of the offense.” *Id.* at 375. The Court clarified that the question of competency “may have little or no bearing upon” the question of criminal responsibility, “for many defendants who may not be held criminally responsible for their unlawful acts are clearly competent to stand trial.” *Id.* at 376. The Fourth Circuit concluded, “Manifestly, under these circumstances counsel required expert assistance in determining whether there was a basis for a substantial defense of insanity and in preparing and presenting such a defense if, after examination, it appeared justified. *Id.*

Several weeks prior to trial, Appellant's counsel moved for an evaluation by the Department of Mental Health. The trial court heard that Appellant had a history of mental illness that spanned twenty-five years, and that he suffered from paranoid schizophrenia, a condition for which he was unmedicated the night of the crime. The court stated it was denying the motion because Appellant was “articulate,” had “obtained a GED,” and appeared to “understand[] what's going on in court here today.” R. 21, l. 24 – 22, l. 1. However, while relevant to competency, these considerations are not determinative as to whether Appellant was criminally

responsible on the night of the offense. The court erred when it apparently confused competency with criminal responsibility.

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