STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY

Court of General Sessions  
Hon. John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000822

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 27 2019

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTOINE LAKIDA HIGHTOWER,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-2508

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
York, SC 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Judge Hall had an additional opportunity to observe and speak with Appellant at a separate hearing on April 4, when defense counsel moved for an evaluation to assess his criminal responsibility. Judge Hall performed a lengthy colloquy and heard that Appellant had been dealing with mental health issues since his teenage years but was taking medication provided by the jail. April 4 Tr. 6-7. Appellant explained that he had his GED, had worked in the past, and was the father of three children. April 4 Tr. 9. The court explicitly found Appellant was able to assist in his defense and understand what he was doing. April 4Tr. 9. This finding is supported by Appellant's coherent answers to the court's questions and his statement at the March 27 hearing where he told the court: "I know exactly what I'm doing." March 27 Tr. 7.

The record supports Judge Hall's finding that Appellant was competent and that a mental evaluation was not necessary. See State v. Bradshaw, 269 S.C. 642, 644, 239 S.E.2d 652, 653 (1977) (holding trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying motion for a mental examination to determine competency where defendant failed to show an examination was warranted). Appellant did not broach the topic of competency in front of Judge Hayes at trial, or otherwise give him reason to believe he was not competent. He summarily renewed his motion

for “a mental health evaluation” and did not make an argument why an evaluation was warranted. Tr. 42. Considering trial courts are entitled to especially broad discretion in this area, State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 441, 641 S.E.2d 912, 920 (Ct. App. 2007), this Court should affirm.

### III.

**This Court should affirm the trial court’s admission of a body camera video containing out-of-court witness statements because the statements were admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. Alternatively, any error was harmless.**

Appellant alleges the trial court committed reversible error by admitting a police body camera video. The footage shows the scene of the crime in the aftermath of the incident and includes the officer’s interaction with Taylor and McCullough, wherein they summarize the incident for the officer. The witness statements contained within the video, to the extent they were admitted for their truth, were hearsay. The trial court seemed to engage in a Confrontation Clause analysis focusing on the declarants’ availability for cross-examination, rather than a rules-based hearsay analysis. Tr. 40-41. Respondent concedes this to be incorrect. However, this Court should affirm for two reasons. First, despite the mistaken premise of the trial court’s ruling, the statements were admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. An appellate court may affirm on any ground appearing in the record. SCACR 220(c). Second, the admission of the video was harmless because it was not important to State’s case and its exclusion would not have changed the result of the trial. This Court should affirm.

#### **Standard of Review**

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57–58 (2011). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law.” Id.

#### **Contents of the Video**

The video in question was recorded by the body camera of a police officer who responded to the incident location. State’s Exhibit 3. The officer did not testify, and the video is

heavily redacted to remove all of the officer's statements. The video runs approximately 7 ½ minutes. It contains statements by both McCullough and Taylor. Taylor explains that he rented the hotel room and the others were his guests. He describes Appellant knocking on the room door and subsequently forcing it open. He describes Appellant chasing McCullough from the room with the gun. McCullough explains that he had seen Appellant before, that Appellant worked at Ruby Tuesday, and Appellant was with a white male.

### Excited Utterance

Despite being hearsay, a statement may be admitted if it “relat[es] to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.” SCRE 803. In determining whether a particular statement falls within the excited utterance exception, the statement must be viewed under the totality of the circumstances. State v. Brock, 335 S.C. 267, 272, 516 S.E.2d 212, 215 (Ct. App. 1999). Three elements must be met to find a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition. State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007). All three elements are present in this case.

Victim McCullough made his statements to police shortly after he was brutally beaten by Appellant, and while he was still under the stress of excitement caused by the attack.<sup>5</sup> Our Supreme Court “has generally allowed as excited utterances statements made by the victim to the police immediately following a physical attack.” State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 43, 515 S.E.2d 525, 530 (1999) (holding statements made to police within one hour of physical attack were

---

<sup>5</sup> It is unclear from the record exactly how many minutes passed before the officer arrived, but it is apparent that officers responded swiftly in response to a 911 call. Tr. 75-76; 109.

admissible as excited utterances), citing State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 405 S.E.2d 377 (1991) (allowing statements made to police under former res gestae exception where the officer had proceeded directly to the scene upon it being reported); State v. Harrison, 298 S.C. 333, 380 S.E.2d 818 (1989) (allowing as res gestae the statements of an alleged rape victim to an officer at the hospital upon first opportunity to tell what happened to her); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978) (noting that a time interval of over one hour, and up to eleven hours, did not necessarily eliminate a statement as part of the res gestae ); State v. Quillien, 263 S.C. 87, 207 S.E.2d 814 (1974) (concluding a rape victim's statements to police when she arrived at the emergency room were admissible under the res gestae exception); State v. Dennis, 321 S.C. 413, 468 S.E.2d 674 (Ct.App.1996) (allowing statements made to the police and nurse where the record indicated there was no appreciable time lapse between the attack and the statements).

McCullough was still untreated and bleeding from the attack. See State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 117, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007) (statement qualified as excited utterance where “victim was complaining of pain and was bleeding when the statements were made, and thus, the victim made the declaration while under the stress of her attack”); Blackburn, 271 S.C. at 328, 247 S.E.2d at 336 (victim’s statement to police at hospital one hour after incident was admissible as excited utterance where victim “was still under the stress and pain of the assault at the time she made the statement”). Having been beaten over the head with a brick, McCullough was not capable of reflective thought. Tr. 101.<sup>6</sup> Thus, the rationale for the excited utterance rule is present. See State v. Whisonant, 335 S.C. 148, 155, 515 S.E.2d 768, 772 (Ct. App. 1999) (“The rationale behind the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule is that the startling event

---

<sup>6</sup> When McCullough gave his statement to responding officers, he “was not in his right mind. I don’t even think he knew where he was at.” Tr. 101 (testimony of Maurice Taylor).

suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought and, consequently, reduces the likelihood of fabrication.”).

Likewise, Taylor had witnessed the beating, fled from the hotel room after Appellant kicked the door in, and at one point attempted to defend himself with a coat rack. Tr. 89-91. His statements to the responding police officer were made at the first opportunity. See State v. Cox, 274 S.C. 624, 266 S.E.2d 784 (1980) (statement made an unspecified time after the incident admissible as part of the res gestae where the victim made the statement at the first opportunity). Because the statements in question were made while the declarants were still under the stress of excitement caused by these events, the statements were admissible under SCRE 803(2). This Court should affirm on this independent ground.

### **Prejudice**

Even if the video contained inadmissible hearsay, its admission was harmless. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). “In order to obtain a new trial based upon the erroneous admission of evidence, the appellant must demonstrate both error and prejudice.” State v. Mizell, 332 S.C. 273, 285, 504 S.E.2d 338, 345 (Ct. App. 1998). The burden is on the appellant to show that the testimony in question was prejudicial. State v. McElveen, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

“An improper introduction of hearsay evidence constitutes reversible error only if its admission is prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Whisonant, 335 S.C. 148, 156, 515 S.E.2d 768, 772 (Ct. App. 1999). “Whether trial errors are harmless depends on the circumstances of each case. The materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” Id. The introduction of inadmissible evidence is harmless when

the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978).

Appellant claims the admission of the video containing the witnesses' prior consistent statements "cannot be harmless." Brief of Appellant at 23. Appellant cites Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 566 (1994), a CSC case where the trial court erroneously admitted a child victim's prior consistent statement identifying Jolly, her step-grandfather, as the perpetrator. Jolly claimed the child's uncles had committed the sexual assaults. In response to the State's argument that the admission of this hearsay evidence was harmless, the court held: "Improper corroboration testimony that is *merely cumulative to the victim's testimony*, however, cannot be harmless, because it is precisely this cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration." Jolly, 314 S.C. at 21, 443 S.E.2d at 569. Appellant appears to argue that this portion of the court's opinion constitutes a bright line rule of law to be applied in every case involving a witness's prior consistent statement. However, Appellant fails to cite State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 482, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95–96 (2011), where our Supreme Court overruled the "apparent" bright line rule of Jolly and clarified that "a harmless error analysis should be employed when reviewing the admission of hearsay testimony that improperly corroborates the victim's testimony in a sexual assault case." See Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 246, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018), reh'g denied (June 12, 2018).<sup>7</sup> Jennings and Thompson unequivocally

---

<sup>7</sup> The Jennings opinion recognizes that Jolly, to the extent it established a bright-line rule, was wrongly decided. In support of its apparent bright line rule presuming prejudice in every improper corroboration case, the Jolly court cited as authority State v. Barrett, 299 S.C. 485, 386 S.E.2d 242 (1989), another case involving improper corroboration of a CSC victim's disclosure to a social worker. However, the Barrett court conducted a harmless error analysis, as did the court in every other case cited by Appellant in his brief. See State v. Whisonant, 335 S.C. 148, 154, 515 S.E.2d 768, 771 (Ct. App. 1999), State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 624, 582 S.E.2d 426, 431 (2003), and State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 124, 551 S.E.2d 240, 246 (2001). The Whisonant court explicitly stated: "An improper introduction of hearsay evidence constitutes reversible

establish that the erroneous admission of a prior consistent statement is subject to a harmless error analysis.

In Jolly and the other cases cited by Appellant, the prior consistent statements bolstered an especially significant piece of testimony, the veracity of which was the crucial fact at issue. In Foster, the State acknowledged that a child witness's account of a shooting was the "crux" of its case and "the evidence of an intentional shooting was based almost exclusively on [her] testimony...." Foster, 354 S.C. at 624, 582 S.E.2d at 431. In Saltz, the declarant/ witness's testimony was "weak and not particularly credible," making the admission of her prior consistent statement prejudicial. Saltz, 346 S.C. at 124, 551 S.E.2d at 246. In Whisonant, prejudice existed because the case was "essentially a swearing contest" between victim and defendant. Whisonant, 335 S.C. at 156, 515 S.E.2d at 772. In Barrett, "the State relied solely upon Victim's testimony to establish the details of the crime and the identity of the perpetrator." Barrett, 299 S.C. at 487, 386 S.E.2d at 243 (1989). Notably, all of these cases involve a child or teen witness.

Unlike those cases, the admission of the prior consistent statements in this case does not rise to the level of reversible error. The case against Appellant was not a swearing contest and did not turn inordinately on the credibility of the witnesses' account of the incident because the incident was captured on surveillance video. State's Exhibit 1. It was this video that effectively proved the State's case and on which the State relied in its closing argument, not the interviews captured on the body camera. April 25 Tr. 24. The surveillance video shows Appellant brutally beating the victim in the hotel parking lot. It provides much more potent corroboration for McCullough and Taylor's trial testimony than the few statements captured on the officer's body

---

error only if its admission is prejudicial to the defendant." Whisonant, 335 S.C. at 156, 515 S.E.2d at 772.

cam.<sup>8</sup> Compare State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013) (finding improper bolstering by forensic interviewer to be harmless because of strong physical evidence providing independent corroboration), with State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94–95 (2011) ( “There was no physical evidence presented in this case. The only evidence presented by the State was the children's accounts of what occurred and other hearsay evidence of the children's accounts. Because the children's credibility was the most critical determination of this case, we find the admission of the written reports was not harmless.”).

Furthermore, Appellant conceded the incident took place. Appellant was arrested walking away from the scene of the crime. Tr. 109. Defense counsel used his closing argument to dispute the State’s theorized motives for the assault, not to argue that it didn’t happen. He conceded that Appellant “crashed” into the hotel room “to confront Gold.” April 25 Tr. 32–33; 36. He downplayed the severity of the victim’s injuries but did not deny that Appellant caused them. April 25 Tr. 35. He portrayed the incident as a mere fight and argued that Appellant was guilty of second degree assault and battery, but not ABHAN. April 25 Tr. 37–40. The general accuracy of the witnesses’ account of the incident was never seriously in question. Introduction of inadmissible evidence is harmless where the facts are not seriously in dispute. Watts v. Bell Oil Co. of Ocean Drive, 266 S.C. 61, 64, 221 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1976) (erroneous admission of hearsay testimony was harmless where it was “simply corroborative” and there was “no conflict between the parties” regarding subject of hearsay testimony), citing Rouk v. Virginia-Carolina Chem. Co., 108 S.C. 397, 95 S.E. 79, 79 (1918) (admission of evidence was harmless where “appellant not seriously contending” underlying facts); Lamb v. S. Ry. Co., 86 S.C. 106, 67 S.E.

---

<sup>8</sup> See Tr. 141, lines 13-14.

958, 961 (1910) (admission of hearsay evidence was of “no consequence after the introduction of undisputed evidence” to the same facts).

Even if the trial court erred by admitting the video, its error was harmless. The cumulative hearsay testimony contained in the body cam video was not an important part of the State’s case, its veracity was not disputed, and its admission did not affect the result of the trial. This Court should affirm.

**CONCLUSION**


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.